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The Beginning of the End

Murder at Sons of Norway Lodge I

A Mystery Night Play in Four Acts
By

Ted Birkedal

Background Summary:

A dead body has been found at Sons of Norway’s Lodge.  The police were immediately summoned to Viking Hall, the home of the Lodge, to investigate.  The morning after the first body was found, a second dead body was discovered by a Lodge member’s dog in the trees next to the Lodge.
The two bodies belong to Trond Bokmusen, Lodge Librarian, and his mother-in-law, Hedwig Høypåpæra, the District’s International Representative and the newly elected Vice President of all of Sons of Norway. Both individuals have been brutally murdered by one or more persons unknown.  In hopes of shedding light on the case, police Detective Nils Skarpnese has called together a number of Lodge officers, along with several selected Lodge members and had them assemble at the scene of the crime, Viking Hall.  After carefully sorting through both the physical and oral evidence, Nils Skarpnese, who has a sharp nose for crime, unravels the surprising mystery that lies behind the murders.

Cast of Main Characters
Suspects/Lodge Officers:
1. Astrid Avis-Newsletter Editor

2. Anna Lisa Lefse-President 

3. Thorbjørn Grisbanke-Foundation Director

4. Thor Hammar-Counselor/President of Viking Hall Board

5. Mike Heltgalen-Trustee and Viking Hall Office Manager

6. Larry Langsnakke-Sports Director 

7. Surt Mangepenger-Lodge Treasurer/Treasurer Viking Hall Board

8. Cindy Rekord-Recording Secretary 

9. Bev Skrive-Corresponding Secretary 

10. Martha Slanders-Vice President/District Secretary

11. Sven Slanders-Publicity Director

12. Taler Stave-Membership Secretary 

13. Berta Travelhet-Cultural Director 

Detectives:
14. Matt O’Shea-Junior Detective, Police Department

15. Nils Skarpnese-Detective, Police Department

The Victims
Hedwig Høypåpæra-Vice President, International Officer for the Sons of Norway District 
Trond Bokmusen-Lodge Librarian 

Character Backgrounds for the Main Characters in the Murder at Sons of Norway Lodge  Mystery Night Event

Suspects/Lodge Officers:
Anna Lisa Lefse:

She is Lodge President.  Like most Scandinavians, she appears nice on the outside but holds tenaciously to seething resentments on the inside.  A former physical therapist, mother, and now grandmother, she has always done for others, but few have done for her (at least this is from her point of view).  She nurtures a special resentment for Trond Bokmusen, who was Lodge President prior to her own term.  In her view, Trond left the Lodge in administrative and financial chaos.  There is also a special dark spot in her heart for Hedwig Høypåpæra, the self-absorbed Vice President of all of Sons of Norway, and also Trond’s overly protective mother-in-law.

Martha Slanders:

Martha Slanders is Lodge Vice President and a woman of strong opinions who is not afraid to voice them.  She shares Anna Lisa Lefse’s low opinion of Trond Bokmusen and sees him as an inept fool.  She has a deep and abiding hatred for his mother-in-law, Hedwig Høypåpæra, who has recently been elected to the high post of Vice President of Sons of Norway.  After holding most of the officer posts in the Lodge, including President, Martha knows Sons of Norway inside and out.  Over the years, she has hosted almost all the various dinners or events on the Lodge calendar.  She has a loyal ally in her grown son, Sven Slanders, Publicity Director for the Lodge.  Her hidden sin is the Norwegian national secret pastime—envy.  Though she has been recently elected to the post of District Secretary of Sons of Norway—a regional multi-state level of Sons of Norway—she feels passed over by what she calls the “Big Wigs” in the organization.  In her view, she has done much for Sons of Norway but has never been given the recognition she feels she deserves for all her work for “the good of the order.”  On the other hand, Hedwig Høypåpæra gets all the attention and glory, according to Martha, all because her intrigue and constant sucking up to Sons of Norway leadership.

Thor Hammar:

Like Anna Lisa Lefse, he seems soft spoken and nice on the outside.  He presently holds the position of Counselor with the Lodge and also serves as President of Viking Hall, Inc., the separate Board that manages the physical assets of the Lodge which are embodied in Viking Hall.  Also, he shares Anna Lefse’s and Martha Slanders’ strong resentments, especially against people like Hedwig Høypåpæra and her son-in-law, Trond Bokmusen.  He sees them as people who get handed life on a silver platter.

In the past two years, the income from Viking Hall rentals has dropped from $20,000 in the black to $15,000 to $20,000 in the red.  Thor blames this on bad luck.  He is close to Surt Mangepenger, who serves both as Lodge and Viking Hall Treasurer.  Together they are known as the “Viking Hall Boys.”

Surt Mangepenger:

Surt Mangepenger serves as the Lodge Treasurer and also as Treasurer for Viking Hall.
Surt’s personality might be described as being as sour as his first name implies.  A man of few words, either of praise or blame, he rarely smiles.  However, he is known to be highly observant.  Surt’s eyes are always darting around the room, taking everything in.  Oslo-born, some say he is typical of his kind, the Norwegian Østlendinger (folks from the region in and around Oslo).  Østlendingers are said to be calculating and constantly looking out for “the chance.”  Some say they are “near-Swedes.”  He is known for his love of exercise, particularly bicycling—a passion (if he can be said to have one) that he shares with Thor Hammar.  Surt also likes playing the stock market, but some now say the recent downturn in the economy has dealt him a serious financial loss, though he has said nothing about it to anyone.  When questioned about the recent losses in Viking Hall income, he gets indignant and hostile. 

Mangepenger has little regard for Trond Bokmusen whose term as President, in his opinion, was a fiasco.  He has even less regard for Hedwig Høypåpæra, who he sees as Trond’s protector and as a pretend Norwegian—her family originated in Bergen which in Mangepenger’s view, isn’t even in Norway.  Despite his dark, somewhat sour personality (or perhaps because of it), he is somehow attractive to women and he never lacks from some woman’s attention.   (His last name translates as “Lots of Money.”  He shares his first name with the coal-black surly ice giant that fought against the gods at Ragarnok, the end of the world in Norse legend.  “Surt” means “Black” in Old Norse.)
Berta Travelhet:  

Berta Travelhet is the Lodge Cultural Director.  Young (in her 30s), at least from the perspective of the rest of the membership, who average 62 years in age, she is a bundle of energy.  She is busy, busy—sponsoring lectures, music recitals, and cooking and language classes.  Plus she religiously attends the Strong Womens’ Class at Viking Hall.  Berta also holds down a job as an Administrative Assistant with the State and, at the same time, is pursuing a degree in International Marketing.  However, some of her cultural events tend to attract few attendees.  For example, “Pipi and the Langstrumpers” who play wooden skis, goat horns, and hollow tree stumps, only netted $124.00.  Despite the fact that she has a past-due student loan, she recently went to Vegas on a spur-of-the moment vacation.  Like other hard working Lodge Board members she is resentful of the easy life and rich rewards of Hedwig Høypåpæra and her lazy son-in-law.  (Her last name translates as “Fussing” or “Hustle and Bustle.”)

Larry Langsnakke:  

Larry Langsnakke is the Lodge’s Sports Director.  Always in motion, he seems never to stop moving or stop talking.  His sports events are many and diverse and usually involve partnerships with the local schools, colleges and universities, and the local military base.  He believes that the Lodge should cast a wider net for community involvement and he thinks that it should take on a more Pan-Scandinavian outlook.  Hedwig Høypåpæra is dead set against this dilution of Sons of Norway mission, and Larry and she have had some heated words on the subject.  Though good natured, Larry has a flash temper that emerges from time to time.  He is retired from the Marines, but no one knows what he did during his time in that fighting outfit—it’s a mystery, and it’s the one thing that Larry doesn’t talk about, even for a second.  (His last name translates as “Long Talker.”)

Mike Heltgalen:

Mike Heltgalen is a Trustee with the Lodge and the Office Manager for Viking Hall, the physical home the Lodge.  He served in the Navy for 20 years, where he rose to the rank of Chief.  He is hard-working and efficient but is wedded to his own ways of doing things.  There is his way and there is the wrong way.  Some say Mike is just downright obsessive.  He is outspoken and openly chewed out Trond Bokmusen down one side and up the other about the mess he left after the Lutefisk Dinner. Trond fell into a resentful silence, but Hedwig came to the rescue and gave Mike a “what for” for tongue-lashing her “poor Trond.”  She especially took exception to Mike’s angry vow to kill Trond if he left another spill, sticky spot, or floor scratch after an event that Trond had hosted.  Some Lodge members believe that Mike is truly unstable.  At a recent rental of Viking Hall Mike called for a cab to pick up two drunk wedding guests.  When the cab arrived, he cold-cocked the two aggressive drunks and threw them in the back of the cab.  When the cabbie protested his two unwanted and drunken fares Mike threatened to give him the same treatment.  Mike frequently sits in the Viking Hall office and broods for hours.  Like the famous Viking, Egil Skalagrimsson, Mike has his “black moods.”  Though he often considers himself “flink” with money investments, there are rumors that a recent downturn on Wall Street hurt his retirement prospects. (His last name translates as “Completely Crazy.”)

Sven Slanders:

Sven Slanders is the Lodge’s Publicity Director.  As loyal to his mother, Martha Slanders, as Hedwig Høypåpæra is to her son-in-law, Sven Slanders is the epitome of the mamma gutten.  He never married.  His mother and the Lodge are his life.  Her defeats are his defeats; her wins are his wins.  Other than his love for his mother, her fine food, and the Lodge; Sven does have a passion for cross-country skiing and sports training (he is quite a strong man) and has a deep fascination with computers and gadgets of every sort.  He is pleasant enough to others, but somewhat distant and distracted at times.  His closest friend at the Lodge is Larry Langsnakke who likes the fact that Sven served briefly but honorably in the Army and pursues sport.  Sven is one of the few people who enjoy listening quietly for hours while Larry yaks away about this and that.

The Victims

Hedwig Høypåpæra:

Hedwig Høypåpæra was strong, wealthy, elegant, and deeply despised by many members of the Lodge Board.  A former Lodge President and later the long-term International Representative from Sons of Norway District, Hedwig had just been elected to the prestigious and powerful post of Vice President of all of Sons of Norway.  She was a woman of accomplishment and acted the part without apology.  Multi-talented, she played a traditional Norwegian fiddle with skill and confidence.  She was immensely proud of her Bergen family roots and like many of Bergen’s finest, she was a bit høytidelig in her presentation of herself.  She was fluent in Norwegian and adept at flattery and small talk.  She was the darling of the Norwegian Consulate and Sons of Norway leadership.  Her most obvious flaw was that she stood out among the average ranks of members and thus invited that most common Norwegian of emotions—envy.  Her blind spot was her sheer delight in herself and the company of her son-in-law Trond Bokmusen, a rather shiftless attorney, who doted on his svigermor and did her every bidding.  She never had a son of her own, you see.  (Her last name translates as “Stuck up” or “High and Mighty.”)

Trond Bokmusen:

Known for his shifty eyes that never seem to engage your own and false smile, Trond Bokmusen, Hedwig Høypåpæra’s son-in-law, was considered unreliable and untrustworthy.  Using all her considerable charm Hedwig had cherry picked Trond for the Presidency of the Lodge.  His tenure was blemished and problematic.  He often missed Board meetings and paid little attention to Lodge business. That burden fell to Martha Slanders, who served as Vice President during Trond’s Presidency.  However, Trond liked being important and would strut around the grander Lodge events, like the Lutefisk Dinner or the Seventeenth of May Banquet, dressed up in the full regalia of Norge traditional dress.  But he avoided the drudgery of lefse making and the other real work that most officers do on behalf of their beloved Lodge.

Many members secretly whispered that Trond Bokmusen’s true ambition was to be “Pharaoh, but without the responsibility.”  Despite Hedwig’s efforts, Trond lost his second bid for the Presidency.  To everyone’s chagrin, Hedwig managed to get him appointed Lodge Librarian as a consolation prize.  No one openly fought this appointment—better to sacrifice the Lodge library than the entire Lodge to his shiftless ways.  Anyway, he was said to be fond of books, especially mysteries.  However, some Board members saw him in this role as just an “encysted parasite” that would re-emerge at some future date from his lowly post to again capture the Lodge Presidency and complete the job of ruining the Lodge for good.  (His last name translates as “The Book Mouse.”)

The Detectives

Detective Nils Skarpnese:

Detective Nils Skarpnese is a relatively young but able and experienced detective with the Police Department.  Because of his Norwegian name and background, he was assigned to the case at Sons of Norway Lodge.  He carries himself with palpable authority and has a commanding voice. (His last name translates as “Sharp Nose.”)

Assistant Detective Matt O’Shea:
Assistant, or Junior, Detective Matt O’Shea is of Irish heritage and is less experienced than Detective Nils Skarpnese, his boss. Yet, he is an eager learner and happy to assist Detective Skarpnese on his many difficult cases.  He recently found out that his family hails from Limerick which was originally established as a Viking trading center.  He now realizes, to his dismay, he may have inherited some Norwegian genes.
List of Props Needed to put on Murder at Sons of Norway Lodge I:

1. One red construction brick and one ball peen hammer.
2. Two gallon-sized plastic bags to serve as evidence bags to hold the brick and hammer.

3. Yellow “crime scene” tape or similar yellow plastic tape. 

4. One large blue tarp.

5. Hand cuffs (party/costume stores carry fake ones).

6. One small leather-bound book (an old leather-bound book or prayer book will do).

7. Notebook for the Recording Secretary.

8. One gavel for the Lodge President.

9. Scattered papers for the Lodge Board meeting table.

10. One cow bell or other annoyingly loud bell.

11. Sons of Norway Lodge paraphernalia for the Lodge Board Meeting table (the more over- the-top the better).

12. Framed portrait of His Majesty, King Harald. 

13. One pair of black shoes.

14. One pair of stuffed pants (balled-up newspaper makes for good stuffing).

15. One trench coat to be worn by Detective Skarpnese.

16. One large table to serve as the Board Meeting table (can be made using three 8-foot portable tables.  Angle ends of outer tables toward the audience).

17. Sufficient table cloths to cover the Board Meeting table.

18. And if you wish, the U.S., Canadian, Norwegian, and state flags (if you have one) in stands to flank the Board Meeting table.

19. A large bucket, basket, or hat to hold the audience’s guesses as to the identity of the culprit/culprits.

20. You may also display large name tags on the Board table in front of each officer to make it easier for the audience to keep track of their names and position.  
Description of the Physical Scene:  
Crime tape is draped around the Viking Hall balustrade and metal gate to the basement stairs and a sign “Crime Scene:  No Admittance” warns people to stay away.  “Rubber neckers” will see two feet sticking out of a blue tarp at the bottom of the stairs.  The rest of the body is not visible and appears to extend into the basement corridor, out of sight.

Three large tables (the two flanking tables are angled slightly forward) are set up with 13 chairs to mimic the physical setup of a typical Sons of Norway Lodge Board Meeting.  The actors who will be playing the various parts are already sitting in the chairs set behind the tables looking anxious, concerned, or just irritated (depending on their characters), and face the audience.  The Sons of Norway cow bell is on the table (to control long talkers), the Recording Secretary has a notebook, and the President of the Lodge holds a wooden gavel.  Minutes and papers appear before each of the Lodge officers.  As with most Board meetings not all officers are present.

A table cloth covers the tables and several Lodge objects such as the cow bell, small Norwegian flags and other Sons of Norway paraphernalia decorate the table.  A photograph of His Majesty, the King of Norway hangs behind the table.  The Lodge banner is on a stand to one side of the tables.

Clues for the Murder at Sons of Norway Lodge I

(You are welcome to print and distribute clues the audience for the Murder at Sons of Norway Lodge I at the beginning of Act 3.  Some of these clues may be red herrings.)

Clue 1:  There were signs of struggle in the Lodge Library.  A number of books from the Storleser donation on the library table had been knocked over.  The library table itself was askew and too close to the library shelves, as if someone had violently pushed against it.  Also, Trond Bokmusen’s computer keyboard was dangling from its cord below the table top.

Clue 2:  Detective Nils Skarpnese and one of his ablest junior detectives, Matt O’Shea were puzzling over the sequence of events that led to Trond Bokmusen’s death and noticed a lonely Sons of Norway Lodge commemorative brick sitting prominently on a shelf in the library foyer.  It was hard and had a flat surface similar to the kind of object that had been used to kill Trond.  The detectives had it checked for human blood by the forensics team.  It checked positive.

Clue 3:  Though the commemorative brick was thought to have been the weapon that had been used to dispatch Trond, a smaller blunt weapon was employed to kill his mother-in-law, Hedwig.  At the request of Nils Skarpnese, Assistant Detective Matt O’Shea searched carefully through the different rooms in Viking Hall looking for a suitable object.  He finally found a small ball peen hammer in a tool bucket in the closet inside the Viking Hall Office.  It had the right feel, size, and weight to have caused the wound to Hedwig’s forehead.  When the forensics team checked it for human blood, the results were positive.

Clue 4:  Since Nils Skarpnese believed the first event that led up to the killings occurred in the library, he had Matt O’Shea thoroughly go over the scene of the struggle.  Detective O’Shea even checked the list of books the Storleser heirs had prepared to accompany the donation.  There was only one book missing: a rare, 1882 edition of Henrik Ibsen’s play An Enemy of the People.  This book is indeed worth some money, somewhere in the neighborhood of $500 to $700 dollars.  According to Einar Storleser Jr., it was among the boxes of donated books and he remembered it well.  It was leather-bound, with gilt letters on the spine.

Oddly enough, a book of great value—worth perhaps $100,000 to $200,000, according to the experts Skarpnese contacted—was still present in the collection.  It was a book that had been personally signed by Henrik Ibsen himself, and, most importantly, the inscription was an apparently affectionate one addressed to one of Oslo’s most beautiful socialites.  This first-edition book dates from 1891 and contains Ibsen’s great play Hedda Gabler.  Many experts have speculated that the play’s heroine is based on Margreta Finben (pronounced like “Feenbein,” the very name in the inscription.  
The inscription read: (Handwritten inscription by Henrik Ibsen on the flyleaf of a first-edition copy of his play Hedda Gabler. In English it reads:  “To my dearest (girl) friend Margreta; yours for all time”)
Til min kjæreste venninne Margreta

Din for all tid

Henrik

18. Juni 1891
Nils Skarpnese believes the two books tell us something about the murders, but he has not figured out what the answer is just yet.  But the presence of the one book and the absence of the other, he believes, are somehow connected.

Clue 5:  The police forensics team found blood on the stairs of the basement steps and two large blood spatters on the upper end of the staircase wall.  Their obvious visible presence had been removed with a bleach cleanser, but the forensics team revealed them straight away with chemicals.

Clue 6:  Another interesting fact is that the emergency door to the Lodge was found ajar.  Whoever had last used it had not secured and locked it.  Unfortunately, new snow covered the footprints of whoever had used the door and descended the steps.

Clue 7:  Around 7:30 P.M., the Dry Dock Manager was near the entrance to Dry Dock, which is on the lower east side of Viking Hall (“Dry Dock” is the name given to an AA rented meeting area in the rear basement of Viking Hall).  He thought he heard something falling around that time, followed by some low moaning.  He was about to check if somebody had been hurt when the moaning suddenly stopped.  Since he heard nothing more for a while, he went about his business.

Clue 8:  The next clue also comes from Dry Dock.  Somewhere around 8:00 P.M., one of the Dry Dock members reported hearing what they thought was a scream coming from the area behind the door that separates the basement of Sons of Norway Lodge with the rear portion of Dry Dock.  The man brought up the matter of the scream to some of the other Dry Dockers, but they told him he must have imagined it, for they had heard nothing.  He never brought it up with the Dry Dock Manager, who was then outside trying to get a member to stop doing wheelies in the parking lot.

Clue 9:  Later, around ten to fifteen minutes after 8:00 P.M., a small group of Dry Dockers were sharing a smoke when someone drove up to the far southeast end of the Dry Dock parking area. They did not pay much attention to the lone figure who got out of the car and tramped quickly back up the driveway toward the Viking Hall Parking Lot—just another crazy Norwegian.  They were more interested in discussing the wheelies that had been performed earlier that evening and had led to an angry response by the Dry Dock Manager.  These same witnesses did not see the person’s face, for he or she had pulled their coat hood up over their head when they exited the vehicle.  The Dry Dockers were also uncertain of the person’s gender, for the person wore pants and no one paid any special attention to the person’s gait.  The car was nondescript and covered with new snow, so no one could describe it as anything more than a medium-sized vehicle of some sort.

Script

(You may choose to have a host thank the audience for attending, introduce the overall play performance and address the audience, so they know what to expect.  In the later plays this introduction is done by a Master of Ceremonies.  If you are presenting this as a dinner theater performance, you could begin serving now, or wait until after the Introduction by Nils Skarpnese, prior to the start of Act 1.)

Ladies and Gentlemen thank you for coming to Mystery Night.  Now, lend me your ears.  Mystery Night is about to begin, as we present The Beginning of the End! Murder at Sons of Norway. 

First a disclaimer—what are you about to see is all nonsense.  None of it is real and none of it is based on real people.  It is entirely made up. There is a Sons of Norway Lodge with an actual Viking Hall.  That is true.  Also, officers and member characters are fictional and cannot be found in any lodge, at least we hope not.  Nonetheless, we ask you to suspend your critical faculties for the next hour or so and pretend that what you are seeing is real.

Also, nobody here is a professional actor.  Our cast will be reading their lines and will do the best they can to move the play forward.  After the third act you will be given a chance to guess the guilty party or parties in the play.  If you get it right, you will be eligible for a door prize(s) that will be awarded after the end of the third act.  So pay attention to what is done and said, for there may be clues that can help you pick the culprit or culprits.  Also, we ask that you remain quiet and turn off your cell phones during the play, so that everyone can enjoy Mystery Night.  
And so with that done, our Mystery Night begins…
Introduction of the Crime Scene to the Play Audience:
(Play action—Detective Nils Skarpnese and Matt O’Shea, his assistant, enter with a flourish. Skarpnese wears a trench coat.  Nils can stand or walk around at will as he reads, but does not sit.  In this segment he introduces the audience to the case.  He occupies the area near and around the Board meeting table but can move down the length of the Lodge as he reads the monologue.  Matt O’Shea stands to one side of the Lodge, he listens and observes.)
Nils Skarpnese (addresses the audience):  Ladies and Gentlemen, I am Detective Nils Skarpnese of the Police Department.  I have asked you here this evening in the hope that you can help the Police Department solve two heinous crimes that were committed in and about Viking Hall yesterday.  Yes, I am afraid I have to ask that no one leaves the building until I have officially released you.  Uniformed police are now guarding all the exits.  It is my suspicion that the murderer or murderers are amongst those I have asked here tonight.  This, of course, is a suspicion, not a certainty, and it is entirely possible my hunch will be proved wrong.  If I am wrong, my deep apologies for any temporary suspicions I have raised in your own hearts about your fellow Lodge members.  I know this is an old fraternal organization and mutual trust will have to be re-established no matter the outcome of the investigation.  
(If you will be serving a dinner or food and beverages, modify or use the following narration to fit your presentation.) To make this long night as pleasant as possible for you, the Board of Directors of the Lodge has offered to put on a spaghetti feed so you will not miss your evening meal nor lose your attention as we get down to brass tacks on this case.  Yes, we will also have coffee and tea for those who want it.
The name of the first victim is Trond Bokmusen.  He was a former President of Sons of Norway Lodge and, until his untimely death, he held the post of Lodge Librarian.  His body was the first found.  It was rolled up in a blue tarp at the bottom of the basement steps; only the feet of the victim were visible from the top of the stairs. The cause of death appears to be severe trauma to the face and head from repeated blows with a blunt, flat instrument.

Many of you may have seen the position of the victim yourself when you entered the Lodge tonight.  A dummy stand-in for the body is visible from the balustrade that protects visitors from falling into the Lodge basement.  The purpose of the dummy stand-in is to give us a sense of where the victim was found relative to the rest of the crime scene as the investigation moves forward.  It would not do to leave the actual body in place.  By the second day, such a ripe body would have exuded an offensive odor that would have even rivaled even the smell of cooked lutefisk. 
The second victim was discovered after we began to investigate the demise of Trond Bokmusen.  While we were hard at trying to solve the murder of Trond Bokmusen this very morning, a Michele Elskehund  and her mother, both Lodge members, innocently drove up to conduct some historical archival research on past Lodge Presidents.  Michele let her dog, Buster, out of the car to go take care of nature in the woods to the south of the Lodge.  He immediately located something and became very agitated, repeatedly begging Michele to investigate, with insistent barking.  She went to look and noticed a bit of blue tarp poking above the snow where the dog had been investigating.  At closer inspection, she saw it was a rolled-up tarp with what looked like grey-blonde hair visible at its open end.  At that point, she noticed the Police cars parked around the Lodge and ran in and told us what she had seen.
As it turned, out the blue tarp in the woods contained a very dead Hedwig Høypåpæra, a long-time Lodge member and holder of the high office of Vice President of all of Sons of Norway.  She was rolled up like a sausage in the tarp which was secured with lengths of duct tape.  We do not know at this time if the fact that she was also the mother-in-law of Trond Bokmusen, the other victim, has any bearing on the solution of the two cases or not.  The relationship of the two victims may be irrelevant, though both died within an hour of each other.  Three young men in hoodies, described as “hoodlums,” were seen smoking just outside the Lodge kitchen near the time of the murders.  If one or more of these young men were the murderers, then Trond and Hedwig may have simply been in the wrong place at the wrong time.  Perhaps they interrupted a break-in into the Lodge or were victims of a robbery that went bad.
Anyway, poor Hedwig had also been killed by a blunt weapon, but in her case the instrument of death had a smaller surface area than the object that had killed Trond.  Second, Hedwig was killed by single blow to the forehead rather than by several.  So, it is clear the killer, or killers, wielded different weapons and took different approaches in dispatching the two unfortunate victims.  And, to make sure we do not narrow our search too soon, I should say that there is an outside possibility that the two murders were unrelated.  We could have a strange coincidence here where two murderers acted independently and dispatched their chosen victims without any knowledge of each other—a chance of fate that the murderers chose a similar time and place for their respective deeds.
Act 1

First Round of the Investigation

(Play action—Nils Skarpnese begins the first round of the investigation and continues to address the assembled Lodge Officers/suspects, seated at the Board meeting table.)
In the first round of our investigation tonight, I wish to take you back to the Lodge Board meeting of the previous day, the day before the murders.  As I said, earlier clues as to the identity of the murderers as well as the motives for these murders might well be found hidden in the business of the Lodge.  The actual notes from this meeting are incomplete or, should we say carefully edited, but I have managed to reconstruct much of what was said based on careful interviews with select Board members and meticulous cross-referencing between the interviews.
I will now recreate that Board meeting for you.  See if you pick up any clues that might enlighten me as to who and why one or more persons may have been driven to the “act of Kain.” I have studied the reconstructed proceedings of the Board so thoroughly I nearly can give the dialogue by heart.  Most of the proceedings are clearly irrelevant, but the President’s call for “New Business” led to some lively discussions of the two future victims that appear to have the potential to inform our investigation.  As is often the case, not all the Lodge officers were present at the Board meeting; some were on vacation, some were ill, and some simply forgot or chose not to attend.
(Play action—actors playing the respective parts of the attending Board members are seated behind a long-winged Board meeting table. Those present are indicated by Nils Skarpnese who stands behind each in turn to identify them by name and title.  We are suspending disbelief here, and will pretend that Nils can paint a word picture so deftly that the audience can imagine the meeting as if they had been there at the time.)
Board Members Present for the Meeting:
Astrid Avis-Newsletter Editor
Anna Lisa Lefse-President 
Thorbjørn Grisbanke-Foundation Director
Thor Hammar-Counselor/President of Viking Hall Board
Mike Heltgalen-Trustee and Viking Hall Office Manager
Larry Langsnakke-Sports Director 

Surt Mangepenger-Lodge Treasurer/Treasurer Viking Hall Board
Cindy Rekord-Recording Secretary 
Bev Skrive-Corresponding Secretary 
Martha Slanders-Vice President /District Secretary 

Sven Slanders-Publicity Director
Taler Stave-Membership Secretary
Berta Travelhet-Cultural Director 
(Hedwig Høypåpæra and Trond Bokmusen are absent from their usual places at the meeting table.)
Nils Skarpnese (to the audience):  We join the meeting after “Old Business” has been dispensed with; Anna Lisa Lefse, Lodge President, has just opened the meeting to “New Business.”)
Martha Slanders:  According to the Lodge Calendar Trond Bokmusen is again listed as hosting the Seventeenth of May Banquet and Celebration.  How can we let that happen?  Last year it was a disaster.  We ended up with a caterer who served almost raw tilapia and Italian meatballs—What’s Norwegian about that?
Anna Lisa Lefse:  I agree it was bad.  We may have no one signing up for the banquet this year if they discover Trond is the again the host.  But Hedwig Høypåpæra would not let us remove him without a fight.  When she heard of the complaints, she just laughed off the tilapia and Italian meatballs as Sur-Norge mat.  It makes me so mad to be walked over like that by those two.

Berta Travelhet:  What got me was when the caterer served risotto instead of risengrøt and served white goat cheese instead of geitost (brown goat cheese).
Cindy Rekord:  Yes, that is a bit of nonsense if you ask me.

Martha Slanders:  It’s ruining the Lodge. We have lost a lot of members since last year; and those members are not just the ones that died or left the state—they simply dropped their memberships.  You, Anna Lisa, or someone will need to take drastic action or we might as well re-name the Lodge the “Hedwig Høypåpæra Lodge” and join the Friends of Sweden Lodge as “born-again Swedes.”
Sven Slanders (nods his head vigorously in strong agreement with his mother):  Yes, my mother is right.  Something needs to be done or the Lodge will truly be ruined.

Taler Stave:  As the Membership Secretary, I can only agree with Martha and Sven.  I have had longtime members call and angrily cancel their memberships over the phone.  Nobody wants half-baked tilapia for the Seventeenth of May.
Astrid Avis:  An anonymous member even sent me a screed about how lousy the Lodge has become.  He or she wanted me to put the piece in our newsletter.  The situation is dreadful, to say the least.
Thorbjørn Grisbanke:  I can’t find the Foundation piggy banks anywhere.  They were full of donated money for Sons of Norway Foundation and now I can’t find them anywhere.  I wouldn’t put it past Trond to have helped himself to their contents.

Mike Heltgalen:  Well, I wouldn’t know about that, Thorbjørn.  Last time you lost them we found them in the cupboard where we keep the store-bought cookies. Odd, huh? Now let me tell you what I lost because of “Good Old Trond”: my temper!  Trond Bokmusen left a mess after this fall’s Lutefisk Dinner.  There was wine and gum all over the carpet in Viking Hall, and the large pots were caked with dried potato.  I told him that I would kill him if he left that kind of mess again.  I swear I will—he really pisses me off!  
And speaking of ruining the Lodge, he nearly burned down Viking Hall.  After closing down the Lutefisk Dinner, he left a big bunch of coals in the fireplace unattended on a windy night. On top of that he had not secured the fire screen properly and the whirling hot ashes burned hundreds of black marks into the floor in front of the fireplace.  But that’s not all!  He turned off the fan in the main hall and the smoke from the fireplace hung thick in the Lodge the next day.  
In addition, he failed to notice that his tramping in and out of the back kitchen door had resulted in two of the stove burners going out.  The wind gusts through the kitchen door blew the pilot lights out.  So, not only did the place smell of smoke; it smelled of gas.  Had the gas been ignited by burning ashes, it would have been a disaster.  We would be back to renting space from the Friends of Sweden Lodge like we did 30 years ago—so you are right, Martha, we might as well consider becoming “born-again Swedes.”
(everyone present for the Board meeting nods in agreement with Mike’s remarks)
Anna Lisa Lefse:  Well, do I hear a motion?

Mike Heltgalen:  I move we kill them both and grind them up to make Norwegian meatballs for the Seventeenth of May.

Anna Lisa Lefse (pretending anger, but holding back a slight smile): Now, Mike, you know we can’t do that.  Is there a serious motion, or should we table the issue for later discussion?

Thor Hammer:  Let’s table it for now.
Surt Mangepenger:  I agree.

Anna Lisa Lefse:  On to more New Business.  I have heard that Hedwig has requested auditors from Sons of Norway to come to provide an independent audit of our books.  She suspects hanky-panky lies behind our running in the red despite all our many Viking Hall rentals over the past two years.

Surt Mangepenger:  Does that threat have teeth, or is she just blowing smoke?

Anna Lisa Lefse:  She is close to Sons of Norway leadership—she is the gosh-darned Vice President herself!  It not only could it happen; it is happening!  As President, I got a call from the Sons of Norway Chief Auditor yesterday.  They are scheduled to come to review the books starting in two weeks.
Thor Hammar:  It just gets worse each day.  It’s got to end soon!

Larry Langsnakke:  I agree, but may I say something about this issue?

Mike Heltgalen:  No!  Your time’s up already!  I got to get home by next year at the latest.  We don’t have time for one of your hour-long monologues.
Larry Langsnakke:  My professional experience in the Marines taught me a thing or two that might be put to use here.  For instance . . . .

Mike Heltgalen (interrupting):  My experience in the Navy taught me to do this!  (loudly rings the cow bell)
Anna Lisa Lefse (rolling her eyes): Is there more New Business?

Bev Skrive:  Well, Einar Storleser’s will left us all his Norwegian books.  We got a very nice letter from Einar Storleser Jr. on the donation.  Einar Jr. and his brother will deliver the books. There are no doubt some treasures in that sterling collection of old books. 

Berta Travelhet:  Well, we won’t know that for decades, since Trond Bokmusen is the Lodge Librarian.  If he sits down to enter the books in the catalogue before the decade is over, we’ll be lucky.
Bev Skrive:  To return to a positive note, we got a very nice letter from Tordensjold Lodge.  They have had tons of snow this winter at Trollhaugen Camp and they have put out an open invitation to join them in their February “Vinterfest.”
Anna Lisa Lefse:  Thanks Bev.  That is a fun note to end our meeting on.  I move we adjourn and also move that we consider our remarks on Hedwig and Trond as off the record.  I don’t think we are ready to take those two on as yet.  Cindy, as our trusted Recording Secretary, I know you’ll be wise enough to be discrete in your edits of the minutes.
Cindy Rekord:  I second your motion, Anna Lisa, and you can rest assured our discussion of Trond and Hedwig will not appear in the minutes.
Thor Hammar (officially as the Counselor): May peace and harmony prevail within our Lodge.
Anna Lisa Lefse:  Good, we are adjourned (she bangs the gavel once).  Good night!

(Play action—Sons of Norway Officers all get up and leave the room, taking the cow bell and Lodge banner and other table paraphernalia with them.  Cindy Rekord takes her notebook with her and scoops up scattered papers.
End of the Act 1 with first round of the investigation and 10 minute intermission, if desired.)
Act 2
Second Round of the Investigation:  
The Night’s Investigation Begins
(Play action—Nils Skarpnese begins his interrogation of a special selection of the Board Members.  He has gone to invite the selected Board Members from offstage back into the Hall to see if their answers reveal any clues as to who the actual murderer(s) is/are.  His focus is locked on those who have already revealed a strong dislike of the deceased.  The Lodge Officers who are not principal suspects drift back into the main hall and find other seats.  The principal suspects will sit together at the Board’s meeting table where Nils Skarpnese will interrogate them.  Nils Skarpnese remains standing and moves about during the interrogation.)
Nils Skarpnese:  Thus far, I have learned that all of you have either a strong dislike or even hatred for the two victims.  I would venture to say that each of you harbors no feelings of loss or mourning at the passing of Trond Bokmusen nor Hedwig Høypåpæra.

Mike Heltgalen:  You can say that again!  I’m going to be up front here. I’ll admit I hated them both.  Whoever killed them did the Lodge a great favor.  I would like to shake that person’s hand.  You betcha!
Nils Skarpnese:  I appreciate your candor, Mike, but not your sentiments.  I also believe the killer or killers were most likely intimate with the business of the Lodge or had access to somebody who was knowledgeable about Sons of Norway affairs.  With your strong feelings about Trond and Hedwig and obvious close knowledge of every nook and cranny of Viking Hall, you would make a most likely suspect.
Mike Heltgalen:  Yeh, I would, wouldn’t I?  But I’m not dumb enough to kill somebody and leave the bodies lying in Viking Hall, and outside, just beyond the parking lot.  If I did the job, it would be thorough and there would be no loose ends or bodies to be found.
Nils Skarpnese:  Martha, when did you and Mike enter Viking Hall?
Martha Slanders:  Mike and I came in around 8:45 P.M. or maybe just a little bit later.  We had just been to the discount store.

Nils Skarpnese:  When you came in, was the alarm by the kitchen door on or off?

Martha Slanders:  Come to think of it, it was already deactivated.

Nils Skarpnese:  As a result, I cannot verify when you and Mike actually entered the Lodge.  You both could have come much earlier.  There is no independent record of your entry.  I do have a record that Trond Bokmusen came into Viking Hall at 6:30 P.M.  He also did a strange thing.  He re-set the alarm. But of course, he used a setting so the alarm would only activate if an outer door was breached.  Perhaps those teenage hoodlums that someone had reported smoking in the glow of the outdoor lights of Viking Hall spooked him and he wanted to feel more secure.  The alarm was deactivated again at 7:18 P.M. by another person.  I checked who had been issued that alarm code.  Thor Hammar, it was your code that was used to deactivate the alarm.
Thor Hammar:  How could that be?  I wasn’t anywhere near Viking Hall at 7:18 P.M.

Nils Skarpnese:  Then where were you a little after 7:00 P.M.?
Thor Hammar:  I was at home.  I had just finished supper around that time.  I had lapskaus with lingonberry for dinner.
Nils Skarpnese:  How would you explain how someone came in Viking Hall at 7:18 and used your security code?
Thor Hammar:  Since it wasn’t me, it must have been someone who had learned my alarm security code and used it to cover their own entry.  We aren’t that careful with security.  The codes are placed inside the little clear key chains that go with the Viking Hall keys we are issued.  Sometimes we lend out our own keys if somebody has lost or forgotten their key.  Also, when two or more of us enter the outer kitchen door, the code used by whomever is activating or deactivating the alarm is visible to anyone standing by the door.  For a long time I even had two separate codes; one of them belonged to a guy on the Viking Hall Board who had moved to Arizona.
Nils Skarpnese (nodding):  Your explanation of how someone could have ended up with your code is clever and perhaps even true, but the fact that something could have happened does not mean that it actually did happen.  Because it was your security code that was actually used, some people might think that a simple explanation is more likely the right one—in short, that it was you who entered the outer kitchen door at 7:18 P.M.  If so, that makes you a prime suspect in this case.
And Surt Mangepenger, what’s to say that you didn’t join him in this enterprise?  You two are close, and are known by the nickname “The Viking Hall Boys.”  Also, both of you were openly angry about Hedwig Høypåpæra’s successful effort in getting Sons of Norway auditors scheduled to go over the Lodge and Viking Hall account books.  As both of you know, the Lodge and Viking Hall have been strangely hemorrhaging money for the past two years in spite of good rentals and well-attended Lodge dinners. 
As Treasurer of both the Lodge and Viking Hall, that puts you in an uncomfortable spot along with your buddy Thor, who is the Lodge Counselor plus the President of Viking Hall. The reasons behind the losses are a mystery, since you do the books and you have been reluctant to let anyone else near them.  Maybe both you and Thor had something serious to hide that Hedwig in her persistent way had cleverly uncovered and then shared with her son-in-law, Trond?
Surt Mangepenger:  There is not a bit of truth to your little speculative scenario.  I admit that I will not mourn Trond and Hedwig’s passing, but I did not do them in.  What kind of person do you think I am?

Thor Hammar:  Right, here we have been working so hard to get things financially ship shape and now you accuse us of murder?  I can’t believe I am under suspicion for murder, of all things.  What is wrong with the world these days?

Nils Skarpnese:  And now Berta, I have some questions for you.  Isn’t it true that you owe a lot of money on your student loans?  Yet, just the other week you popped off to Las Vegas for a long weekend of gambling and partying.  We have checked, and it was an expensive weekend for you; your losses at the blackjack table were upwards of $5,000 dollars.  Where did you get that money?  From Surt Mangepenger’s secret stash?  And I find it odd that Surt Mangepenger was listed on your Vegas ticket record as a “companion fare.”  Perhaps you two are mixing Lodge business with monkey business?
Berta Travelhet:  It’s true I owe some money, but I am working on paying it back.  As to the Las Vegas trip, my mother and father lent me the money.  They said I needed a fun vacation to shake off all the stress that had accumulated all year with school, work, my money problems and whatever.  Yes, Surt shared my companion fare, but it’s not what you think.  Surt has been a help to me at the Lodge and a friend when I needed it.  So, when I heard he, too, was going to Vegas, I thought I would do him a favor and let him travel cheap as my “companion fare.”  That’s all that there is to it.
Nils Skarpnese:  Now, Larry, you have been very quiet for someone who has a reputation for talking.  I know you had some sharp differences of opinion with Hedwig Høypåpæra over the mission of the Lodge and Sons of Norway in general.  And I know you were in a special branch of the Marines before your retirement that specialized in surreptitious and dangerous exercises in Iraq and other distant parts of the world.  You would have the skill, knowledge, and professional ability to pull off these murders and still make them seem amateur, to throw us off the trail.
Larry Langsnakke:  Yes, I could have done it, but I didn’t.  As you say, I am retired from that work now and I certainly would not apply my special skills to fellow Lodge members no matter how much I hated their guts.  That was my work.  I did not bring it home back then, and would not bring it home today.
Nils Skarpnese:  So, where were you between 7:00 P.M. and 9:00 P.M.?
Larry Langsnakke:  I was happily skiing the groomed trails at the Nordic Ski Park, enjoying the solitude and the brisk exercise.

Nils Skarpnese:  Isn’t it true you have a hot temper that can go off at any time when things don’t go your way?
Larry Langsnakke:  Yes, I get angry from time to time, especially with fools like Trond Bokmusen and his stubborn mother-in-law and their ilk.  But they did not have the opportunity to provoke me to anger last night because, as I said, I was happily skiing alone and in tune with nature in the Nordic Ski Park.

Nils Skarpnese:  Another person has also been quiet tonight.  Sven, what were you doing on the night of the murders?  Normally, I hear, you accompany your mother, Martha Slanders, most everywhere she goes.  Why did you not join her and Mike at the Lodge when they brought in the stuff for the Kaffeslabberas lunch?
Sven Slanders:  I was studying my Norwegian class materials.  I am in the advanced class and needed to work on my translation of the piece our teacher assigned us last Wednesday.  The article is about the first settlement of Norway and is very difficult.

Nils Skarpnese:  So you read Norwegian?

Sven Slanders:  Yes, but with difficulty.

Nils Skarpnese:  Why are you taking the class?  To improve your reading ability?
Sven Slanders:  Yes, I want to read the Norwegian classics in the original, and I also wish to visit Norway myself one day.

Nils Skarpnese:  Are you sure you didn’t visit the library earlier in the evening and run into Trond Bokmusen and his mother well before your own mother and Mike Heltgalen arrived at Viking Hall?
Sven Slanders:  No, as I told you, I was home studying.

Nils Skarpnese:  Anna Lisa, perhaps you believed that I would not question you about the murders.  You have a reputation for being a good and hard-working person.  But a reputation is one thing; your actions are another.  I know that you were very unhappy with Trond Bokmusen and Hedwig Høypåpæra.  Basically, you saw your beloved Sons of Norway Lodge going to hell in a hand basket and you could not stop it.  Hedwig was too clever and powerful to thwart even though you enjoyed the position of Lodge President.  Perhaps you were willing to sacrifice your own scruples to save the Lodge?  Maybe you killed them for the “Good of the Order,” as they say?
Anna Lisa Lefse (with feeling!):  Well, I really resent that!  On top of everything else, I’m accused of murder in my own Lodge!  I can’t believe it!  I am tired of being stepped on; first by Trond and Hedwig, now by the police.  When will it ever end?  I am so mad and angry I cannot even think clearly enough to respond to your cruel suspicions.
Nils Skarpnese:  Now, calm down.  Remember, it is my job as an investigator to look at all the plausible possibilities.  And one thing bothers me that I would like to clear up.  When I called your daughter, she told me you told her you were driving in to the Lodge.  Perhaps you were the person who used Thor Hammar’s code to disable the alarm at 7:18 P.M. rather than Thor himself?  Why were you coming to the Lodge?
Anna Lisa Lefse:  My daughter had called to see if I wanted to have pizza with her and the kids.  I felt compelled to finish some Lodge business and said I would skip the pizza and do what I needed to do.  Later, once I got in the car, I just felt tired…tired of having to spend another evening going over paperwork at Viking Hall.  So, I gave myself a welcome reprieve.  I went and saw a movie instead and had a good time all by myself eating popcorn and forgetting about all the stuff I had to do.  I never made it to Viking Hall that night.

Nils Skarpnese:  So, you say...
(End of the Act 2 and the second round of the investigation.  Actors leave the Board meeting table interview area.  Dessert may be served now if a dinner presentation.)
Act 3

Third Round of the Investigation:  Nils Skarpnese Presents Telling Clues to the Assembled Sons of Norway Officers and Members
(Play action—Detectives Nils Skarpnese and Matt O’Shea return and sit or stand away from the suspects, who are again seated at the Board meeting table.  They read aloud, sharing important clues that they have observed that relate to the case.  Written copies of the clues may be shared with the audience at the start of Act 3, along with ballots for the audience to guess the murderer(s).)
Nils Skarpnese:  Clue 1:  There are signs of struggle in the Lodge Library.  A number of books from the Storleser donation on the library table had been knocked over.  The library table itself was askew and too close to the library shelves as if someone had knocked violently against it.  Also, Trond’s computer keyboard was dangling from its cord below the table top.
Clue 2:  As I was puzzling over the sequence of events that led to Trond’s death I noticed a lonely Sons of Norway Lodge commemorative brick sitting prominently on a shelf in the library foyer.  It was hard and had a flat surface similar to the object that was used to kill Trond (Holds up evidence bag containing the brick).  I had it checked for human blood by the forensics team. It checked positive.

Matt O’Shea: Clue 3:  Though the commemorative brick was used to dispatch Trond, a smaller blunt weapon was employed to kill his mother-in-law, Hedwig.  I carefully searched the many different rooms in Viking Hall looking for a suitable object.  I finally found a small ball peen hammer in a tool bucket in the closet inside the Viking Hall Office.  It had the right feel, size, and weight to have caused the wound to Hedwig’s forehead (Holds up evidence containing the hammer).  When the forensics team checked it for human blood, the results were positive.

Nils Skarpnese: Clue 4:  Since I believe the first event that led up to the killings occurred in the library, I had Matt O’Shea thoroughly go over the scene of the struggle.  We even checked the list of books the heirs had prepared to accompany the Storleser donation.  There was only one book missing, a rare 1882 edition of Henrik Ibsen’s play, An Enemy of the People.  This book is indeed worth some money; somewhere in the neighborhood of $500 to $700 dollars.  According to Einar Storleser Jr., it was among the boxes of donated books.  He remembered it well.  It was leather-bound with gilt letters on the spine.
Oddly enough, a book of great value—worth perhaps $100,000 to $200,000, according to the experts we contacted—was still present in the collection.  It was a book that had been personally signed by Henrik Ibsen himself, and most importantly, the inscription was an apparently affectionate one addressed to one of Oslo’s most beautiful socialites.  This first-edition book dates from 1891 and contains Ibsen’s great play, Hedda Gabler.  Many experts have speculated that the play’s heroine is based on Margreta Finben (pronounced like “Feenbein”), the very name in the inscription.  The inscription read:
Til min kjæreste venninne Margreta 

Din for alle tid

Henrik

18. Juni 1891

I believe these two books tell us something about the murders, but I have not figured out what the answer is just yet.  But the presence of the one book and the absence of the other are somehow connected, I believe.

Matt O’Shea: Clue 5:  Our forensics team found blood on the stairs of the basement steps and two large blood spatters on the upper end of the staircase wall.  Their obvious visible presence had been removed with a bleach cleanser, but our forensics team revealed them straight away with chemicals.
Clue 6: Another interesting fact is that the emergency door to Viking Hall was found ajar.  Whoever had last used it had not secured it.  It was only partially closed; the lock had not engaged, as if the person who had used it last was in haste.  Unfortunately, new snow covered the steps of whomever had used the door and descended the steps.

Clue 7: Around 7:30 P.M., the Dry Dock Manager was near the entrance to Dry Dock, which is on the lower east side of Viking Hall.  He thought he heard something falling around that time, followed by some low moaning.  He was about to check if somebody had been hurt when the moaning suddenly stopped.  Since he heard nothing more for a while he went about his business 
Nils Skarpnese: Clue 8:  The next clue also came from Dry Dock.  Somewhere around 8:00 P.M., one of the Dry Dock members reported hearing what they thought was a scream coming from the area behind the door that separates the basement of Sons of Norway Lodge with the rear portion of Dry Dock.  The man brought up the matter of the scream to some of the other Dry Dockers, but they told him he must have imagined it, for they had heard nothing.  He never brought it up with the Dry Dock Manager who was then outside trying to get a member to stop doing wheelies in the parking lot.

Clue 9:  Later, around ten to 15 minutes after 8:00 P.M. a small group of Dry Dockers were sharing a smoke when someone drove up to the far southeast end of the Dry Dock parking area. They did not pay much attention to the lone figure that got out of the car and tramped quickly back up the driveway toward the Viking Hall Parking Lot—just another crazy Norwegian.  They were more interested in discussing the wheelies that had been performed earlier that evening and had led to an angry response by the Dry Dock Manager.  These same witnesses did not see the person’s face, for he or she had pulled the hood of their coat up over their head when they exited the vehicle.  The Dry Dockers were also uncertain of the person’s gender, for the person wore pants and a long coat and no one paid any special attention to the person’s gait.  The car was nondescript and covered with new snow; so no one could describe it as anything more than a medium-sized vehicle of some sort.
Now, Detective O’Shea and I must go downstairs to check on something that may be important to solving the case.  While we are gone please go over the clues in your mind or try to remember if there is something you heard or saw that could shed light on this case 
(The Detectives exit the Main Hall.  The suspect Board Members remain sitting behind the meeting table.  After the detectives leave the hall, designated volunteers gather papers with audience guesses as to the identity of the culprit/culprits and leave the room to quickly sort them out by suspect.  Keeping these out of sight of the audience and separated by culprit; bring them up to the Board table so a door prize winner(s) may be drawn from the correct guesses after the actual culprit is revealed.  Take a short intermission—10-15 minutes—while this takes place.)
Act 4
Fourth Round of the Investigation:  The Mystery Revealed

(Play action—Nils Skarpnese and Matt O’Shea return to the front of the room and begin to address the audience.  The suspects remain to their respective seats at the Board Meeting table.)
Nils Skarpnese:  We have gone over all the clues available to us and given careful consideration to what people have said.  We believe we have all the information we need to bring this case to a rapid close.  We will, at times, use the pronoun “he,” but we have not ruled out that the killer is female.  All of us will tire of repeated references to “he or she.” Now, to the tale.

Both greed and seething hatred drove the killer of Trond Bokmusen and Hegwig Høypåpæra to murder.  The person who committed these acts was stimulated to action by Bev Skrive’s casual mention at the end of Sons of Norway Lodge Board meeting of the donation and delivery of Einar Storleser’s large collection of Norwegian books.  The culprit knew, perhaps because of casual conversations with Einar at Lodge events, that the collection contained a treasure of great worth.  This was Henrik Ibsen’s first-edition published play Hedda Gabler which contained not only Henrik Ibsen’s original signature but a romantic inscription to one of Christiana’s (now named Oslo) most beautiful socialites.  As I said earlier, this inscription would make the book a priceless find for collectors or museums.  My limited research to date suggests that the book would most likely sell for at least $100,000 and possibly as much as $200,000. 

The culprit’s plan was to steal the book before Trond Bokmusen would have a chance to come across it while he was cataloging the donated books into the Lodge library system.  Nobody would be the wiser and he would be the richer.  The culprit even remembered to disarm the alarm inside the Lodge door using Thor Hammar’s code.  That way nobody would know he had been to the Lodge that night.  The perpetrator thought he had taken decisive and timely action in order to get the coveted book, but unexpectedly, he found the normally slow and lazy Trond Bokmusen hard at work in the library that evening, the same day as the donation.

Sometime after the culprit arrived in the library, he and Trond got into some sort of dispute.  The culprit apparently lurched at Trond, who was working with his computer at one end of the library table.  Perhaps he was trying to pin Trond in between the shelves and the table.

We believe the killer then quickly formulated another more cunning plan for dealing with Trond Bokmusen, who— as you have heard tonight— was despised by many Lodge officers.  Believing that Trond might report his attempted assault to other Board members or even the police, the culprit believed his only chance to obtain the book and the fortune it promised without anyone’s knowledge would be to silence Trond for good.  Leaving the library, the culprit took the only commemorative brick in the library as a tool of convenience for what needed to be done.  In fact, the brick was the only object that could have served as an effective weapon.

Matt O’Shea: The culprit then coolly ascended the stairs from the basement and waited in ambush behind the men’s restroom door, where he could not be seen by Trond until it was too late.  Sometime around 7:30 P.M., near the time the Dry Dock Manager heard the sound of something falling and someone moaning, the culprit jumped to action and smacked Trond full in the face with the broad, flat side of the brick.  Blood spattered on the wall at the top of the stair landing and Trond tumbled violently down the steps to the bottom of the staircase.  In the fall, Trond sustained a broken neck and arm, but though he was apparently severely hurt he was not yet dead.  It was Trond’s low moaning at the bottom of the stairs that was heard by the Dry Dock Manager.  Knowing that he needed to finish the job once and for all, the culprit brought himself and his brick to the bottom of the stairs.  Here he coldly and repeatedly smacked Trond’s face and head with the flat of the brick until Trond expired.  He then went to one of the nearby storage rooms and grabbed a large blue tarp and rolled up Trond’s limp body in what we at the Police Department call “the blue burrito of death”—it was hardly the first time a blue tarp had played a role in a murder. 

At some point after Trond’s death, his mother-in-law came to Viking Hall either to join Trond at his library work or to pick up her Lodge mail.  Soon after she arrived, we believe she saw the feet of the tarp-wrapped body at the foot of the basement stairs.  She went to investigate and discovered it was the body of none other than her son-in-law, Trond Bokmusen.  At this point she apparently screamed.  If you will remember, a member of the Dry Dock recalls hearing what he thought might be a scream around 8:00 P.M.
We believe the murderer was not on the stairs or in the basement when Hedwig discovered the body.  We think he was upstairs somewhere out of Hedwig’s line of sight.  At any rate, since the brick was beside the body, he needed another weapon to dispatch Hedwig with, for he could not afford for her to call the police at this point.  He apparently knew enough about Lodge business to know that a ball peen hammer sat in a tool bucket in the Viking Hall office closet.  Once he had the hammer, he returned to his place of ambush behind the Men’s Restroom door to the left of the stair landing.  We believe he took the long way to his grisly post.  First, the murderer went through the main hall of the Lodge and, then through the kitchen so Hedwig would not see him pass by at the top of the stairs.

As with Trond, we believe he jumped out from his hiding place and swung at her with the hammer, once she was on the last step of stairway.  As with Trond, Hedwig also fell violently down the stairs and broke several bones, including her left ankle.  There is also a second, but smaller remnant blood spatter on the same section of wall that contained Trond’s blood, but this smaller spatter proved to be Hedwig’s blood.  The coroner who examined Hedwig’s body thinks she died instantly from the wound inflicted in her forehead by the murderer’s hammer.

Nils Skarpnese: The murderer then got another blue tarp and rolled up Hedwig in another “blue burrito of death.”  He cinched it up with lengths of duct tape and then tied a long piece of rope around one end and dragged the wrapped-up body up the stairs, out the main Lodge doors, and then deep into the snowy woods to the south of the Lodge, where he covered it with more snow and a large tree branch.

After disposing of Hedwig’s body, he apparently moved his car from the front of the Lodge to the far northeast corner of the Dry Dock parking area.  We believe he was parked near the kitchen door because he would have otherwise seen Trond’s own car parked to the side of the Lodge, out of eyesight from the parking spaces in the front.  At this point, he was spotted by some Dry Dockers who had come outside to smoke, but they paid little attention to the person walking briskly up the driveway in the snow.  All they remembered was a person in pants and a long coat with the hood up.
We believe that the culprit had just entered the Lodge again when he was surprised by the unexpected arrival of Martha Slanders and Mike Heltgalen.  Otherwise, we believe his plan would have been to move Trond’s body outside as he had done with Hedwig’s body.  Because he bolted out the emergency door we believe he did so as soon as Martha and Mike had descended the basement stairs to investigate the feet poking out from the rolled-up blue tarp.  Otherwise, they would have spotted him if they had both been in the kitchen at the time.  We speculate that he may have hidden in the cleaning closet when he first heard them enter the kitchen hall.  Thus, he probably made a quick break for it through the kitchen and down the main hall to the emergency exit, once Martha and Mike had headed in the direction of the Lodge office.

As you know the only missing book from the Storleser collection was a 1882 first edition of Henrik Ibsen’s play An Enemy of the People, a book of some value, but no more than a few hundred dollars.  We believe that the culprit, in haste, mistook this book for the one that would bring a small fortune and did not realize the error until he had left Viking Hall after the murders.  He also did not know that a full inventory of the donated books had been delivered by Einar Storleser Jr., thus knowledge of what books were in the collection did not need to await Trond Bokmusen’s cataloging effort.  As I said earlier, Matt O’Shea, went carefully through the Storleser list and compared it to the donated books and discovered the still-present Hedda Gabler, which we believe had been the original objective of the murderer.

As I said at the beginning of this summary of our findings, the motives behind the murders were greed and hatred. Greed was the maitre d’ to murder. The culprit in question was at first simply driven by a desire to obtain and sell a book of great value.  But a simple act of theft accelerated to murder when the culprit encountered Trond Bokmusen in the library.  Trond somehow interfered with the killer’s plans to grab the book unnoticed and, within an instant, murder became a necessary and violent companion to an act of larceny.  The second murder was committed to cover the commission of the first. The close-up nature of the killings and the weapons used to dispatch the victims suggest that the culprit welcomed and perhaps even relished the opportunity to smash in Trond’s face and place the business end of a ball peen hammer into Hedwig’s forehead.  The murders were up close and personal.  That suggests the culprit knew the victims well and hated them even more.

Matt O’Shea: Though quiet resentment may have turned to deep hatred in Anna Lisa Lefse’s heart, we do not think that greed plays a large role in her life.  Thus, because we believe she lacks the second motive, greed, we do not believe she is a likely suspect anymore.  Similarly, though Martha Slanders seethes with envy and harbored a hatred of Trond and Hedwig, she too is lacking in the greed factor.  So Martha is not a strong suspect, in our opinion. 

Further, if Martha did not commit the murders, then we believe that her son, Sven Slanders, also must drop from the serious suspects list.  He is a follower, too dependent on his mother’s initiative to independently conceive of the plan to steal the book and then rise to the occasion of quickly planning and executing two separate murders when the need arose.

Larry Langsnakke had the required hatred and perhaps the temper and even professional killing skills to be a candidate for suspicion.  But he is a “hale fellow well met” guy who evidences a community spirit not shared by many murderers.  Also, like Lisa Lefse and Martha Slanders, there is no evidence of financial troubles in his life nor signs that greed drives his life.  Thus, we suspect he is not our killer.

Our interest now naturally falls on four people who nicely combine the necessary elements of greed and hatred.  These are Mike Heltgalen, Surt Mangepenger, Thor Hammar, and Berta Travelhet.  All of them are involved in financial shenanigans or difficulties either at the Lodge, at home, or both.  We believe all of them would be capable of close-up murder. They each carefully nursed an unhealthy hatred of the victims and in each one there is the flicker of greed of the kind that can fuel murder.  
However, we believe that Mike Heltgalen probably did not have an opportunity commit the murders unless he committed them in cooperation with Martha Slanders.  But, we have already formed the opinion that she does not possess a sufficient dose of greed to have willingly joined Mike in first, stealing the book, nor in then, killing the victims. The theft of the book also does not fit with the lifestyle and interests of Mike Heltgalen.  He rarely reads, if at all, and displays a remarkable ignorance of Norwegian literature.  We doubt he even knew who Henrik Ibsen was until tonight.

Nils Skarpnese:  Now we are down to three suspects who all had the necessary means, motives, and opportunities to commit the murders.  Of the three who is the killer?  Remember, although he denies he disarmed the Lodge alarm at 7:18 P.M. it was Thor Hammar’s security code that was entered into the alarm.  Thor claims it was someone else.  Could that someone have been Surt Mangepenger?  It would seem possible that Surt might know Thor’s code number since both are long-time members of the Viking Hall Board of Directors and they both keep close company.  Also, because he was born and educated in Norway, Surt would have had a keen understanding of the value of an inscribed Hedda Gabler.
And then there is Berta Travelhet, the only woman among our three remaining prime suspects.  As a relatively young, physically active woman, she would have sufficient strength to carry out the murders.  As Cultural Director, she would also likely have knowledge of Norway’s major cultural figures such as Henrik Ibsen and perhaps the value of a first-edition play that had been inscribed by the author himself, to a well-known woman of late nineteenth century Norway. 

I have asked my assistant, Matt O’Shea, to take each of these prime suspects to get their coats from the coat room and bring them back here to me.  (The three suspects are led to the coat room by Detective O’Shea; all quickly return under the escort of the Detective—all look apprehensive.)  

(Nils Skarpnese takes charge)  

Nils Skarpnese:  Please hand me your coats.  (The suspects hesitantly offer up the coats; Nils Skarpnese then lays two of the coats on the Board meeting table and holds up the one in his hand.).  


Nils Skarpnese:  Whose coat is this?

Thor Hammar:  Why, that is my coat.  (Nils now rummages through the coat reaching into its many pockets.  He then hands it back to Thor.  Next, he picks up another coat.)

Nils Skarpnese:  Whose coat is this?

Surt Mangepenger:  That is my coat.  (Again, Nils rummages through the coat checking each pocket.)

Nils Skarpnese:  There is only one coat left, so it must be yours, Berta. Right?

Berta Travelhet:  You know it is; why ask?

Nils Skarpnese:  Because I need to be sure who it belongs to.  (Nils again begins to look through the coat pockets and, in an instant, pulls out an old, leather-bound book.)

Nils Skarpnese:  Cuff her Matt; she’s the one.  (Berta’s shoulders slump in surrender as Detective Matt O’Shea puts hand cuffs on her.)  I had a hunch that the murderer would try to find the right book tonight in the library.  It would eat at the murderer.  Taking the wrong book was a missed a chance for a sizable amount of money, after taking great risk at carrying out two murders.  I figured that, if given an opportunity, the murderer would sneak down to the library tonight while no one was looking and seek out Henrik Ibsen’s Hedda Gabler.  I took a serious risk in using this valuable book as bait, but I figured it was worth it.  I placed it near the top of one of the piles of Storleser books so it could be easily and quickly discovered by the murderer. Because the culprit could not walk freely around with the book after taking it I felt that the person might put the book in one of their big coat pockets until I released the Board members and Lodge members to go home.  My plan worked, and worked well!

Thank you Lodge members for your cooperation.  You may now return to your homes.  Berta, come with me.  It’s all over for you.  
(Nils Skarpnese and Matt O’Shea march a despondent Berta Travelhet offstage for booking.  Actors portraying Thor and Surt draw and announce the doorprize winner(s) from the correct guesses.)

The End
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